IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
CIRCUIT COURT

DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2019-CP-40-00919

Appellate Case No. 2022-001434

RECEIVED

AUG 25 2026

SC Court of Appeals

Emad Tadros, as Trustee of the Grace Living Trust dated October 12, 2010, as amended.....Appellant,

v.

Holder Properties, Inc., John R. Holder, Individually, ADESSO/Columbia, LLC, ADESSO Horizontal Property Regime, and ADESSO Homeowners' Association, Defendants,

of which

ADESSO/Columbia, LLC, ADESSO Horizontal Property Regime, and ADESSO Homeowners' Association,Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GOODWYN LAW FIRM, LLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS ISSUE BECAUSE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXIST REGARDING WHEN APPELLANT DISCOVERED HIS CLAIMS BECAUSE THE RECORD DEMONSTRATES CONFLICTING EVIDENCE REGARDING WHEN APPELLANT DISCOVERED THE PARKING VIOLATIONS AND THE COURT DID NOT CONSIDER EVIDENCE OF THE EQUITABLE TOLLING.
- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY RESOLVING DISPUTED FACTUAL ISSUES REGARDING THE NUMBER AND DESIGNATION OF COMMERCIAL PARKING SPACES.
- III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RESOLVING THE EFFECT OF THE 2017 SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXIST REGARDING THE SCOPE AND VALIDITY OF THE RELEASE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant filed this action February 14, 2019 asserting claims relating to the allocation of parking spaces, violations of the Adesso Master Deed, and related damages affecting the commercial units. (R., p. 29). The Amended Complaint asserted causes of action including negligence, breach of the Master Deed, declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, negligent misrepresentation, constructive fraud, and violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. (R., p. 47). Respondents filed answers denying liability and asserting various defenses. (R., p. 71).

On September 24, 2020, Respondents Holder Properties, Inc., John R. Holder, and Adesso/Columbia, LLC filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R., p. 154). On December 28, 2020, the Adesso Horizontal Property Regime and the Adesso Homeowners Association filed their Motion for Summary Judgment. (R., p. 356). The motions argued that Appellant's claims were barred by the statute of limitations and that no genuine issues of material fact existed regarding the allocation of parking spaces or the charging of assessments. (R., p. 154, 356).

The circuit court conducted a hearing on the summary judgment motions on January 7, 2021. (See Transcript of hearing, R., p. 1165). On July 15, 2021, the circuit court entered a Form 4 judgment reflecting the court's decision to grant Respondents' motions for summary judgment. (R., p. 4). Subsequently, on September 21, 2021, the circuit court entered a written order granting the Adesso's motion for summary judgment and dismissing Appellant's claims with prejudice. (R., p. 7). In its order, the court concluded that: Appellant's claims were barred by the statute of limitations; Respondents had complied with the Adesso Master Deed in charging assessments; and the parking allocation within the development complied with the Master Deed and applicable zoning requirements. (R., pp. 4-18).

Following entry of the summary judgment order, Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, arguing that the court had overlooked evidence demonstrating genuine disputes of material fact. (R., p. 852). The motion asserted that the record contained conflicting evidence regarding the number and designation of commercial parking spaces; the date on which Appellant discovered the alleged violations; and representations made by the homeowners association and its counsel regarding the settlement agreement. (R., p. 852).

The circuit court denied Appellant's motion to reconsider in an order dated September 19, 2022. (R., p. 19). Appellant thereafter filed a timely Notice of Appeal seeking review of the circuit court's order granting summary judgment and dismissing the action. (R., p. 929). Appellant filed a motion related to issues with the legibility of the transcript that significantly delayed the briefing on the merits.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This appeal arises from the circuit court's grant of summary judgment dismissing Appellant's claims relating to the allocation of commercial parking spaces at the Adesso condominium development in Columbia, South Carolina. Appellant purchased four commercial condominium units in the Adesso development in December 2014. The units were intended for retail use and depended on the availability of parking spaces designated for the commercial units under the development's governing documents. After the units were leased to tenants, Appellant began receiving complaints that the parking spaces designated for the commercial units were being used by residential guests and other occupants of the building, leaving insufficient parking available for the commercial tenants.

As Appellant investigated the issue, communications from the Adesso Homeowners Association, the property management company, and municipal zoning officials suggested that

the parking allocation within the development was still being addressed and reviewed. Appellant also received representations during the negotiation of a construction defect settlement that the settlement agreement concerned only construction defects and would not affect the parking rights associated with his commercial units.

Appellant ultimately filed this action asserting claims relating to the improper allocation of parking spaces and violations of the governing condominium documents. The circuit court nevertheless granted summary judgment in favor of Respondents, concluding that Appellant should have discovered his claims as early as 2014 or 2015 and that the claims were therefore barred by the statute of limitations.

In doing so, however, the circuit court resolved multiple disputed factual issues that should have been decided by a jury. The record contains substantial evidence showing that Appellant did not discover the alleged parking violations until years after purchasing the units and that the number and designation of commercial parking spaces remained in dispute.

Because South Carolina law requires that all evidence and reasonable inferences be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, summary judgment was improper. The order of the circuit court should therefore be reversed and the case remanded for trial.

The ADESSO consists of one hundred and ten (110) residential units in five (5) stories with ground level commercial units consisting of approximately eight thousand one hundred thirty-nine (8,139) square feet. The ADESSO is built over a ground level parking area for residential unit owners and the owner of the commercial units.

Appellant owns real property located at 601 S. Main Street, Suites A, B, C and D, Columbia, South Carolina. Suites A, B, C and D (the "units") are located in the ADESSO Horizontal Property Regime (the "ADESSO"). Appellant purchased the units on December 5,

2014.

In December 2014, Appellant Emad Tadros, M.D., as Trustee of the Grace Living Trust, purchased four commercial condominium units located at 601 S. Main Street, Suites A, B, C and D, Columbia, South Carolina in the Adesso development in Columbia, South Carolina. The units were located on the ground level of the Adesso mixed-use condominium project and were intended to house retail tenants serving residents of the building and the surrounding neighborhood.

The governing documents for the development, including the Adesso Master Deed, established various rights and obligations relating to common elements, limited common elements, and parking allocation within the development. (R., p. 719). Under the Master Deed, certain parking spaces were designated as Limited Common Elements for the benefit of the commercial units, including restricted access parking within the parking structure and designated street parking areas. (R., p. 719).

After purchasing the units, Appellant leased one of the commercial spaces to a tenant affiliated with the United States Marine Corps recruiting office. Shortly after the tenant began occupying the premises, the tenant raised concerns regarding the availability of parking for the commercial units. In an email communication describing the parking conditions at the property, the tenant stated, "The current parking situation is there are 17 parking spaces inside the parking structure that are used by guests of residents and commercial units as well as two street parking spots in front of the building. (R., p. 885).

During this time, Appellant also received communications from Adesso management regarding parking availability at the development. In a January 29, 2015 email, the Adesso management company informed unit owners that the condominium board intended to allocate

additional parking spaces through a sealed bid process.

The email stated, "The Board has decided with so many interested in additional parking spaces at Adesso they will offer six to nine spaces through a sealed bid process. (R., p. 888). This communication suggested that the allocation of parking spaces within the development was still being addressed by the condominium association and that additional spaces might become available.

The tenant further reported that residential guests frequently occupied parking spaces associated with the commercial units, creating difficulties for customers and employees attempting to access the businesses located in the commercial spaces. (R., pp. 306-341). These complaints prompted Appellant to begin investigating whether the parking spaces designated for the commercial units were being properly allocated under the governing documents for the development.

As the parking dispute continued, communications occurred between Appellant's tenant and the City of Columbia Zoning Department regarding compliance with municipal parking requirements for the development. Email communications show that zoning officials began reviewing the issue and gathering information regarding the number and location of parking spaces available to the commercial units. (R., pp. 173-174; p. 51; pp. 99-100). These communications reflected that the adequacy of parking at the development remained under review by city officials several years after Appellant purchased the units.

Separately, the Adesso Homeowners Association initiated litigation relating to alleged construction defects at the development. That litigation resulted in a settlement agreement entered into in May 2017 between the Adesso Homeowners Association and various defendants associated with the development and construction of the property.

The settlement agreement resolved claims relating to alleged construction defects affecting the property and provided for a settlement payment exceeding seven million dollars to the homeowners association. (R., p. 244). The agreement contained broad release provisions purporting to release various claims arising from the development and construction of the property. (R., pp. 244-284). Prior to signing the settlement agreement, Mr. Tadros communicated with the HOA's counsel regarding the scope of the agreement and its potential effect on Appellant's claims relating to parking and other issues affecting the commercial units.

In an email communication with HOA counsel, Mr. Tadros expressed concern that the settlement might affect issues unrelated to the construction defect claims, including the allocation of commercial parking spaces. (R., pp. 292-296). Mr. Tadros asserted that he signed the agreement only after being assured that the settlement concerned construction defects and would not affect his claims relating to the parking spaces associated with the commercial units. (R., pp. 292-296).

As disputes regarding parking allocation and other issues affecting the commercial units continued, Mr. Tadros ultimately filed the present action against the developer and related entities. The complaint asserted claims relating to the allocation and availability of commercial parking spaces, violations of the governing condominium documents, and related damages affecting the commercial units. (R., p. 47-64).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Under Rule 56(c), the party seeking summary judgment has the initial responsibility of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact." *Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, S.C. 101, 115,410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991). This initial responsibility may be discharged by pointing out to the trial court that there is an absence of evidence to support the non-moving party's

case, and it is not necessary for the moving party to support its motion with affidavits or other similar materials negating the opponent's claim. *Id.* Once the moving party carries its initial burden, the opposing party must do more than rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleadings, but must, by affidavit or otherwise, set forth specific facts. The proper standard is the "genuine issue of material fact" standard set forth in the text of Rule 56(c). It is not sufficient for a party to create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine. *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 892 S.E.2d 297 (S.C. 2023).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS ISSUE.

A. GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXIST REGARDING WHEN APPELLANT DISCOVERED HIS CLAIMS BECAUSE THE RECORD DEMONSTRATES CONFLICTING EVIDENCE REGARDING WHEN APPELLANT DISCOVERED THE PARKING VIOLATIONS.

The circuit court concluded that Appellant "should have known" of his claims at the time he purchased the commercial units in 2014. (R., pp. 4-6; pp. 7-17). However, the record contains substantial evidence demonstrating that Appellant did not discover the alleged violations until years later.

First, the evidence shows that the parking issues became apparent only after complaints from Appellant's tenant in 2015. The record reflects that the United States Marine Corps tenant contacted Appellant regarding parking problems shortly after occupying the premises. (R., p. 15). Appellant thereafter began investigating the availability of commercial parking spaces within the Adesso development.

Second, the record demonstrates that the Adesso management company represented that the issue would be addressed through a sealed bid process for parking spaces, indicating that the

situation was still evolving rather than clearly resolved at the time of purchase. An email from the Adesso management company dated January 29, 2015 states, "The Board has decided with so many interested in additional parking spaces at Adesso they will offer six to nine spaces through a sealed bid process." (R., p. 888). This email reasonably suggested to Appellant that the availability and allocation of commercial parking spaces remained unresolved.

Third, the record shows that municipal zoning officials were still investigating the adequacy of parking at the Adesso development in 2017 and 2018. (R., pp. 173-174; p. 51; pp. 99-100). Emails between Appellant's tenant and the City of Columbia Zoning Department confirm that the City had begun reviewing the parking issue and gathering information regarding compliance with zoning requirements. (R., pp. 173-174; p. 51; pp. 99-100). This evidence provides a reasonable basis for a jury to determine that Appellant did not know there were issues with the parking in March 2015 and directly contradicts the circuit court's finding that Appellant had knowledge of his claims no later than March 2015. Where conflicting evidence exists regarding when a Appellant knew or should have known of a claim, the issue must be resolved by the trier of fact rather than on summary judgment. Arant v. Kressler, 327 S.C. 225, 489 S.E.2d 206 (S.C. 1997). Accordingly, the circuit court improperly resolved disputed factual issues concerning the discovery of Appellant's claims and this court should reverse the Circuit Court on these grounds and remand the case for trial.

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT FAILED TO CONSIDER EVIDENCE SUPPORTING EQUITABLE TOLLING OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

Even if the statute of limitations had begun to run earlier than Appellant contends, the record contains evidence that Respondents' conduct induced Appellant to delay filing suit. South Carolina recognizes that a defendant may be estopped from asserting the statute of limitations

when the defendant's conduct reasonably induces delay in filing suit. Vines v. Self Mem'l Hosp., 314 S.C. 305, 443 S.E.2d 909 (1994).

Here, the record shows that Appellant repeatedly sought clarification from the HOA and its counsel regarding the nature of the parking dispute and the scope of a proposed settlement agreement. In communications with Appellant, the HOA's attorney represented that the settlement related only to construction defect issues and did not affect Appellant's parking claims. (R., pp. 292-296; pp. 231-232). The attorney further warned that if Appellant refused to sign the settlement agreement, the HOA would initiate litigation against him. (R., pp. 292-296; pp. 231-232).

These communications reasonably caused Appellant to delay filing suit while attempting to resolve the dispute through the HOA. Whether Appellant's reliance on these representations was reasonable is a factual determination that should be decided by the jury. Brown v. Finger, 240 S.C. 102, 124 S.E.2d 781 (1962) (holding that the reasonableness of a defendant's actions regarding discovery of a claim is generally a jury question). By granting summary judgment despite this evidence, the circuit court improperly resolved disputed factual issues regarding equitable tolling.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY RESOLVING DISPUTED FACTUAL ISSUES REGARDING THE NUMBER AND DESIGNATION OF COMMERCIAL PARKING SPACES.

The Circuit Court ruled that Respondents have complied with the terms of the Adesso Master Deed in charging assessments to Appellant's commercial units located at the Adesso and that parking spaces in and around the Adesso, currently available for the use of Appellant's commercial units and their tenants, comply with both the Adesso Master Deed and the applicable City of Columbia Zoning Ordinance.

The record contains substantial conflicting evidence regarding the number of commercial parking spaces designated for Appellant's commercial units and whether Respondents have complied with the master deed. The Adesso Master Deed identifies certain parking spaces as Limited Common Elements benefiting the commercial units, including 17 restricted access spaces designated for commercial use. (R., p. 719). However, subsequent amendments and representations created uncertainty regarding the actual number of commercial spaces available. (R., pp. 10-11; pp. 1202-1204).

The circuit court's order references different figures—including 19 and 21 spaces—while other evidence in the record indicates that only 17 spaces were designated for commercial use. (R., p. 719; pp. 4-18). Moreover, Appellant's tenant reported that numerous spaces originally associated with the commercial units were being used by residential guests and other occupants. (R., p. 306-341).

An email from Appellant's tenant describes the parking situation as follows: "The current parking situation is there are 17 parking spaces inside the parking structure that are used by guests of residents and commercial units as well as two street parking spots in front of the building." (R., p. 885). Emails between Appellant's tenant and the City of Columbia Zoning Department confirm that the City had begun reviewing the parking issue and gathering information regarding compliance with zoning requirements. (R., pp. 173-174; p. 51; pp. 99-100).

This evidence creates a clear factual dispute regarding whether the parking spaces designated for the commercial units were properly allocated. Under South Carolina law, when the evidence allows multiple reasonable inferences regarding a material fact, summary judgment is inappropriate. Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801 (S.C. 2009).

Because the number and allocation of commercial parking spaces directly affect Appellant's claims regarding Master Deed compliance and zoning violations, these disputes are material and must be resolved by a jury and this court should reverse the Circuit Court on this issue.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RESOLVING THE EFFECT OF THE 2017 SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXIST REGARDING THE SCOPE AND VALIDITY OF THE RELEASE.

The Circuit Court held that Appellant's claims were barred by a settlement agreement executed in May 2017 resolving construction defect litigation involving the Adesso development. (R., p. 4-18). The settlement agreement contained a release provision addressing claims arising from construction defects and related matters involving the development. (R., p. 244).

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