RECEIVED

Aug 03 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge
Case No.: 2019-CP-40-00919

Appellate Case No. 2022-001434

Emad Tadros, as Trustee of the Grace Living Trust
dated October 12, 2010, as amendedAppellant,

v.

Holder Properties, Inc., John R. Holder, Individually, ADESSO/Columbia,
LLC, ADESSO Horizontal Property Regime, and ADESSO Homeowners'
Association,

of which

ADESSO/Columbia, LLC, ADESSO Horizontal Property Regime, and
ADESSO Homeowners' Association Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Douglas W. MacKelcan, Esq.
Skyler C. Wilson, Esq.

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

is presumed to have actual knowledge of the undisclosed facts.” *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 119, 628 S.E.2d 869, 876 (2006) (citing *Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Com’n*, 332 S.C. 54, 64 n.6, 504 S.E.2d 117, 122 n. 6 (1998)). Moreover, “constructive or inquiry notice in the context of a real estate transaction often is grounded in an examination of the public record because it is the proper recording of documents asserting an interest or claim in real property which gives constructive notice to the world.” *Id.* The recording of a document alerts all future grantees of the rights of the recorder because the law assumes the grantee will search the index and discover the interest or claim. *Spence*, 368 S.C. at 119, 628 S.E.2d at 876; see *Epps v. McCallum Realty Co.*, 139 S.C. 481, 499, 138 S.E. 297, 303 (1927) (“[R]ecording amounts to notice, whether known or unknown, because the means of information are at hand.”).

Appellant filed suit on February 14, 2019. Thus, if he knew or should have known about the facts giving rise to his claims before February 14, 2016, his claims are barred by the statute of limitations.

The circuit court did not err in finding no genuine issue of material fact that Appellant was on constructive notice of facts giving rise to his claims as early as when he first purchased his Units in December 2014. The statute of limitations is triggered under the discovery rule if Appellant “should have known” of the facts giving rise to his claims. There is no genuine issue of material fact that Appellant should have known of the facts giving rise to his parking allocation claims when he purchased the units. The Adesso Master Deed was publicly recorded on January 14, 2008. The January 2008 Amendment to the Adesso PUD, which is also a public record, was submitted to the City of Columbia Zoning Department and approved in 2008. Both documents control the allocation of Commercial Parking Spaces at the Adesso. Additionally, the Fourth Amendment to the Adesso Master Deed was recorded on April 22, 2013. These documents were

all of matters of public record at the time Appellant purchased the Commercial Units in December 2014 and establish no genuine issue of material fact that he was on constructive notice when he purchased his Units, which is outside the three-year statute of limitations.

Furthermore, setting aside constructive notice, had Appellant or his agent exercised reasonable diligence in connection with the Commercial Units purchase, they would have examined the publicly-available Adesso PUD documents—including the 2008 PUD Amendment—and would have been able to determine the Fourth Amendment’s allocation of Commercial Parking Spaces violated the zoning requirements of the Adesso PUD. Importantly, Appellant testified that after he eventually read the documents, he understood how he might have parking allocation claims, supporting a determination there was no genuine dispute he “should have” been aware of the facts giving rise to his claims when he purchased his Units. Appellant testified that he understood the Fourth Amendment violated the Master Deed in allocating Commercial Parking Spaces, and that he was also able to determine the allocation of spaces at the Adesso violated the 2008 PUD Amendment. **R. p. 800** (Depo. Tr. 62:10-63:15); **R. p. 802** (Depo. Tr. 70:16-71:3).

His lack of actual knowledge as of 2014, however, is inconsequential because the discovery rule requires acting with due diligence. The record is clear that Appellant did not actually exercise any due diligence prior to purchasing his Units—he did not inspect the Units (**R. p. 801** (Depo. Tr. 66:21-67:1)), he did not review any recorded documents (**R. p. 807** (Depo. Tr. 89:24-90:7)), and he did not communicate with Respondents (**R. p. 816** (Depo. Tr. 125:23-25, 127:15-19)). If he had reviewed this information prior to purchase, he would have been aware of the facts giving rise to his claims.

In sum, whether by constructive notice or if Appellant had executed due diligence, Appellant would have known at the time he purchased his Units in December 2014 of facts giving rise to the claims he asserts in this lawsuit. Because December 2014 is more than three years before he filed suit (February 2019), Appellant's claims are barred.

The circuit court did not err in finding Appellant knew or should have known of his claims in 2015, when one of his tenants complained about commercial parking allocation. Notably, Appellant appears to admit this fact in his brief: "the evidence shows that the parking issues became apparent only after complaints from Appellant's tenant in **2015.**" **App. Br. at 8.** Because he admits the issues were apparent in 2015 and that more than three years before he filed suit, the claims are barred by the statute of limitations.

Even if disputed, there is no genuine issue of material fact that Appellant was aware of the parking allocation issues in March 2015. Appellant admitted in his deposition he had actual knowledge in early 2015 of parking-related issues raised by both Holder and the Marines. **R. pp. 806-07** (Depo. Tr. 88:10-89:17; 90:12-19; 91:5-92:7). Had Appellant further investigated these issues, he would have discovered his Commercial Units did not have all the parking spaces to which they were entitled under the Master Deed or the Adesso PUD. Therefore, as late as March 2015, there was sufficient information, of public record and otherwise, relating to the then-existing improper allocation of Adesso Commercial Parking Spaces to put a person of common knowledge and experience, in the exercise of reasonable diligence, on notice of the existence of Appellant's parking-related claims. Appellant was required to bring an action to enforce his parking-related claims by 2018 at the latest. But Appellant did not file this action until February 14, 2019. Therefore, as they relate to the allocation of Commercial Parking Spaces at the Adesso,

Appellant's claims are barred by the applicable statute of limitations. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the circuit court.

B. Equitable tolling does not toll the statute of limitations because there is no genuine issue of material fact that Respondents did not prevent Appellant from filing suit earlier, and Respondents made no misrepresentations about resolution.

The circuit court found that equitable tolling did not apply because Appellant did not produce evidence of related false statements or justifiable reliance. **R. p. 15.** Appellant argues the circuit court erred by not considering evidence to equitably toll the statute of limitations. **App. Br. at 9.** Specifically, Appellant argues there is evidence in the record that Appellant sought clarification from Respondents about the parking dispute and the settlement agreement, and the Respondents' attorney represented the settlement agreement did not affect the parking claims. **App. Br. at 10.** Appellant asserts these communications caused him to reasonably delay filing suit. The circuit court correctly determined equitable tolling did not apply.

“‘Tolling’ refers to suspending or stopping the running of a statute of limitations; it is analogous to a clock stopping, then restarting.” *Hooper v. Ebenezer Sr. Servs. & Rehab. Ctr.*, 386 S.C. 108, 115, 687 S.E.2d 29, 32 (2009) (quoting 51 Am. Jur. 2d *Limitation of Actions* § 169 (2000)). “Equitable tolling . . . is typically available only if the claimant was prevented in some extraordinary way from exercising his or her rights, or, in other words, if the relevant facts present sufficiently rare and exceptional circumstances that would warrant application of the doctrine.” 51 Am. Jur. 2d *Limitation of Actions* § 153. It “applies in cases where a litigant was prevented from filing suit because of an extraordinary event beyond his or her control.” *Hooper*, 386 S.C. at 115, 687 S.E.2d at 32 (quoting *Ocana v. Am. Furniture Co.*, 91 P.3d 58, 66 (N.M. 2005)).

The party asserting the statute of limitations should be tolled bears the burden of establishing sufficient facts to justify its use. *Hooper*, 386 S.C. at 115, 687 S.E.2d at 32.

“[E]quitable tolling is a doctrine that should be used sparingly and only when the interests of justice compel its use.” *Id.* 386 S.C. at 116, 687 S.E.2d at 33. The doctrine may be applied when it is justified under all the circumstances. *Id.* “Any inequitable circumstances preventing a party from initiating a timely lawsuit must be truly beyond the control of the plaintiff.” 51 Am. Jur. 2d *Limitation of Actions* § 153.

For example, this Court affirmed a lower court’s ruling tolling a statute of limitations applicable to a homeowner’s association in claims against a developer when the developer controlled the association, and the Court found it difficult to believe a developer-controlled association would sue the developer. *See Magnolia N. Prop. Owners’ Ass’n, Inc. v. Heritage Communities, Inc.*, 397 S.C. 348, 372, 725 S.E.2d 112, 125 (Ct. App. 2012). Under those extraordinary circumstances, the association was effectively prevented from filing suit based on matters outside of its control. Thus, equitable tolling applied.

Unlike *Magnolia*, Appellant has not shown extraordinary circumstances existed beyond his control that prevented him from filing suit. Appellant relies on vague communications between him and Respondents over a settlement agreement irrelevant to the parking allocation claims. Nothing in those communications rises to the level of extraordinary circumstances preventing him from filing suit. Further, nothing in the record, shows Respondents did anything—via representation or otherwise—to prevent him from filing suit earlier on his claims for parking allocation. Indeed, according to Appellant’s own arguments, he voluntarily chose to delay filing suit because of communications. If his choice was voluntary, then not filing suit within the statute could not have been due to circumstances beyond his control. Accordingly, the circuit court correctly refused to toll the statute of limitations.

As an additional matter, Appellant cites *Vines v. Self Memorial Hosp.* in support of his equitable tolling argument. However, *Vines* does not discuss equitable tolling. Instead, *Vines* involved claims a defendant should have been estopped from claiming the statute of limitations as a defense. 314 S.C. 305, 308, 442 S.E.2d 909, 911 (1994). Equitable tolling is different from equitable estoppel because it does not require a misrepresentation. See *Magnolia N. Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc.*, 397 S.C. at 372, 725 S.E.2d at 125. The *Vines* court held, as a matter of law at summary judgment, that estoppel was not warranted because the plaintiff had not presented evidence the defendant's conduct induced a delay in filing the lawsuit. 314 S.C. at 308, 442 S.E.2d at 911. The court found that estoppel is warranted when there are representations or conduct that a claim will be settled without litigation or that a lawsuit is not necessary. *Id.* But even ongoing settlement negotiations will not bar a defendant from claiming the statute of limitations defense. *Id.*

Under *Vines*, there is no evidence that Respondents made express representations or conducted themselves in a manner to induce Appellant to delay filing suit. There were no statements that a lawsuit was not necessary or that a claim would be settled without litigation, on which Appellant relied to wait to file suit. Furthermore, the communications on which Appellant relies pertain to a settlement agreement he signed concerning construction defects, nothing related to the parking allocation. And the circuit court did not find Appellant's claims barred as to Respondents based on the settlement agreement. Even if the settlement agreement was relevant, the communications Appellant references at most could be classified as ongoing settlement discussions, which *Vines* notes are insufficient to warrant estoppel. Accordingly, estoppel does not apply, and the circuit court appropriately ruled. Therefore, this Court should affirm.

II. Even if not barred by the statute of limitations, the circuit court correctly granted summary judgment because there were no genuine issues of material fact that the parking allocation for Appellant's Units complied with the Master Deed and PUD.

The circuit court ruled that “the allocation of Commercial parking spaces at the Adesso complies with both the Master Deed and the Adesso PUD, which is the applicable City of Columbia Zoning Ordinance.” **R. p. 16.** Appellant argues there is conflicting evidence preventing summary judgment showing parking allocation did not comply with the Master Deed. **App. Br. at 10.** This Court should affirm.

Appellant sought declaratory and injunctive relief as to the number of parking spaces allocated to commercial units. In declaratory relief, he plead he was “entitled to have the number of parking spaces as required by the City of Columbia Planning and Zoning Department ordinances applicable to the exclusive use of the commercial units in the Adesso.” **R. p. 57** (§ 59). Similarly, Appellant sought a permanent injunction that Respondents “take action to allocate and designate the correct number of parking spaces for the exclusive use of the commercial units.” **R. p. 55** (§ 43).

The South Carolina Declaratory Judgment Act provides that “[c]ourts of record within their respective jurisdictions shall have power to declare rights, status, and other legal relations whether or not further relief is or could be claimed.” *Sunset Cay, LLC v. City of Folly Beach*, 357 S.C. 414, 423, 593 S.E.2d 462, 466 (2004). To state a cause of action under the Declaratory Judgment Act, a party must demonstrate a justiciable controversy. *Id.* A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a dispute or difference of a contingent, hypothetical or abstract character. *Id.* Moreover, “[a] declaratory judgment should not address moot or abstract matters.” *Sunset Cay, LLC*, 593 S.E.2d 462 at 466 (citing *Waller v. Waller*, 220 S.C. 212, 223, 66 S.E.2d 876, 882 (1951)).

“The party seeking an injunction has the burden of demonstrating facts and circumstances warranting an injunction.” *Strategic Resources Co. v. BCS Life Ins. Co.*, 367 S.C. 540, 544, 627 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2006). “To obtain an injunction, a party must demonstrate irreparable harm, a likelihood of success on the merits, and the absence of an adequate remedy at law.” *Denman v. City of Columbia*, 387 S.C. 131, 140, 691 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2010). “An injunction is a drastic remedy issued by the court in its discretion to prevent irreparable harm suffered by the plaintiff.” *Scratch Golf Co. v. Dunes W. Residential Golf Props., Inc.*, 361 S.C. 117, 121, 603 S.E.2d 905, 907 (2004); *see also Riverwoods, LLC v. Cnty. of Charleston*, 349 S.C. 378, 389, 563 S.E.2d 651, 657 (2002) (finding taxpayers had an adequate remedy at law by paying taxes under protest and, therefore, could not show irreparable harm). Moreover, “[i]n deciding whether to grant an injunction, the court must balance the benefit of an injunction to the plaintiff against the inconvenience and damage to the defendant.” *Strategic Resources Co.*, 367 S.C. at 544, 627 S.E.2d at 689.

As to declaratory relief, the parking-related matters underpinning Appellant’s claim are moot. There is no genuine issue of material fact that Appellant’s Commercial Units have the requisite number of parking spaces to which they are entitled under the Adesso PUD and applicable City of Columbia zoning ordinances. In June 2018, Respondents changed the signage for, or otherwise restricted access to, 21 parking spaces within the Adesso, to limit the spaces designated for the use of the Commercial Units to “retail use only,” to bring the allocation of Commercial Parking Spaces into compliance with Section V of the Master Deed. **R. p. 773** (Depo. Tr. 99: 16-19); **R. p. 777** (Depo. Tr. 104:2-20). Moreover, based upon the availability of sufficient additional on-street parking within 400 feet of the Adesso to serve the Commercial Units, the City of Columbia Zoning Administrator made a final determination that no known zoning violations

relating to parking exist at the Adesso. R. pp. 773-75 (Depo. Tr. 99:20-101:21); **R. p. 776-77** (Depo. Tr. 103: 9-104: 25); **R. p. 781**. Therefore, with regard to Appellant's parking-related claims, Appellant has failed to present a justiciable controversy, or the declaratory judgment claim is moot, because there are the requisite number of parking spots under the Master Deed, and the zoning administrator approved available parking.

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